BEFORE THE MARYLAND REAL ESTATE COMMIZSSICON

MARYLAND REAL ESTATE COMMISSION *

V. *
JAVAD AHMELD AJTZAZ * CALSE NO. 2Z00B-RE-797
Respondent
*
And OAH NO. DLR-REC-24-09-11300
w
CLAIM OF ALICE MURFHY *
AGATNST THE MARYLAND
REAL ESTATE GSUARANTY FUND *
x* * & & W

PROPOSED ORDER

The Findings of Tact, Conclusions of Law and Recommended Crder
of the Administrative Law Judge dated March 12, 201C¢, having been

received, read and considered, it i3, by the Maryland Real Estate

. . #A L)
Commission, this _Z? day ot b . 2G10

ORDERED,

2. That the Findings of Fact in the recommended decision be,

and hereby are, AFFIRMEL;

j= ~Fkat the Conclusiorns of Law in Lne recommended decisicn

ke, and heoreby are, ADOPTED;
7. Thai the Recommended Order ke, and hereby is, AMENDED as

fnllows:



ORDERED that the Reapondent Javad Akmed Alzar vicolated Md.

Bus. Orec. and Prof. Art. § 17-322(k)(25) and (33}); and COMAR
0%.11.902.0_H;

ORDERED that all real estate licenses held by the Respondent
Javad Ahmed Aizaz be BUSPENDED for two woekd;

ORDERED tha+t the Respondent Javad Ahmed Aizaz be assessed a
oivil penality in the amncunt of 52,000.00, which skall ke paid

within thirty (30} days of tLhe date of this Proposead Crder;

ORDERED that the «laim of Alice Murphy against the Maryland
REeal Egtate Cuaranty Fund be DENIED;

ORDERED that all real estate liccnses held by the Respondent
Javad Ahmed AZzaz sha.. be SUSPENDED if the civil penalty is not
paid in iull within the thirty-day time peried, and Lhat chis
suspersicn is ln additicon Lo, ard not in lieu of, the two-weex

digciplinary suspensicr.

ORDERED that the records and publications of the Maryland Real

Fstarte Commiasion reflect this decision.

0. DPursuant to §1G-220 of the State Government Article, the
Commisslon tinds that the Recommnended  Decision of Lhe
Adminigtrazive Law Judge had to be modified becaongse the (Judge
failed toe include all Lhe necessary elements in the Recommended
Order.

E. PursuanL to {ode of MWaryland Regulations (COMAR)

09.01.03.08 those parties adversely affected by this Proposed Order



shall have 25 days “rom the postmark date of the Order te file
mxceolicng and to reguest to pregent arguments on Che proposed
dec:isicn before this Commission. The exceptions gnould be =ment to
Fhe Exesubive Director, Maryland Real Estate Commission, 3rd Floar,
00 Noerth Calvert Street, Raltimcre, MD 21202,
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MARYLAND REAL FSTATE

COMMISSION

V.

JAVAD AHMED AIZAZ,
RESPONDENT,

AND THE CLAIM OF

ALICE MURPIY

AGAINST THE

REAL ESTATE COMMISSION

GUARANTY FUND

BEFORE MICHAEL D). CARLIS,
AN ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE
OF THE MARYLAND OFTFICE OF

ADMINISTRATIVE IIEARINGS

OAH CASE No: DLR-REC-24-09-113(H)

COMPLAINT No.: 2008-RE-797

PROPOSED DLECISICN

STATEMENT OF THLE CASE

[S5CES

SUMMARY OF TIE EVIDENCE

FINDINGS OF FACT
INSCUSSI0N
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
PROPOSED ORDER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 9, 2009, the Maryland Real Estate Commission (Commission) ordered a heanng

on (1) churges against Javad Ahmed Alzaz {Respondent) for alleged violations of sechons 17-322(b)25)

and (333 of the Business Ocvcupations and Professions Article of the Annotated Code of Marvlind and

Code of Maryland Regulutions (COMAR) 091102 01H and (i) 1 claim by Alice Murphy {Clamant)

apainst the Commission’s Guaranty Fund {Fund) for relmbursement for an ulleged actual loss caused by



the Respondent’s misconduct. !

On December 17, 2000, 1 held a hearing in Hunt Valley, Maryland. Jessica B, Kaufman,
Assistant Attorney General, and the Office of the Attomey General, represented the Commission. The
Clajmant represented herself. The Respondent represented himsell. Kos King. Assislant Attorpey
General, and the Office of the Attorney General, represented the Fund,

The Administrative Procedure Act, the Office of Administrative Hearings® Rules of
Procedure, and the Commission’s Hearing Regulations govern the procedure in this case. Md.

Code Ann., State Goy't §8 10-201 through 10-226 (2009 COMAR 28.02.01: and COMAR
09.01.03, respectively,
ISSUES

The issues are {1} whether the Respondent violated Md. Code Ann., Bus. Oce. & Prof. 3 17-
322(b3(25) and (33) und COMAR 091 L.02.01H; (i) if so, whether a two-weck suspension of the
Respondent's license and a $2,000.00 penalty are reasonable sanctions; (iii} whether the Claimant
suffered an actuul loss caused by the Respondent’s misconduct; and (iv} if so, whether the amount af the
compensable actual Joss 15 the amount claimed by the Claimant.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

Cxhibits®

The following were admitted for the Comimission:

"The vrder was prampted by Lhe Claimant's compiaint and chaim, which was filed on Bay 13, 2008 She claimed

an setual Joss of $38000.00. Her complaint seates as tollows:
[ signed a contract w purchase property bere at 6706 Purple Lilac Lo willy & clepasit W
$36.000.00 tram |sic] Sell America Realtoe, At the time | didn’t know the property ws already
purchuse[d] [u]ntil Muy 2000, when Mr. Malik knocked on my door. Uram December 2005 until
April 2006 T made payments o Sell Americy Realtors. From May 20306 until Tanuary 2008 | made
payments 1 Mr, Malik stale he is the owner [sic]. 1invested kot ol money s |] this property
from Decernber 2005 wuntil January 2008, T invested $86.000.00 towards payments + the
$39 000,00 [] depasit v purchase the house. Come now the house is in tureclosure].] The hank
want give |sic| me an opportunity 1o buy the house. The Bank wantfs] to cvict my famidy and |
[s1c]. The hiuse would be sold ut bank auction. On May of 2008 my family and | would be lett
hevmctess and with nee money.

“'The Claimant, Respondent. and Pund did nut offier any exhibits.
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MREC Exh. #1: Notices of Heunng and Statement of Charges;

MREC Exh. #2: Letters. dated December 9, 2009, und Amended Statement of
Charaes;

MREC Exh. #3: The Respondent’s licensing and disciplinary history:

MRLC Exh. #4: Memorandum, dated December 2, 2008, and

MREC Lxh. #3: Repont of Investigation, with attachments.

Testimony:”

The Claimant and Robert Oliver, Investigalor. testified for the Commission.
The Claimant testified for herself,
The Respondent testified for himself,

FINDINGS OF FACT

[ find the following by a preponderance of the cvidence:

L. At all relevant times, the Respondent was a licensed real estute broker. He owns
Sell Amenca Realty, Ine. (Sell America).

2. In or aroind May 2005, the Claimant signed a residential contract of sale to
purchase 1 house on Gemini Lane in Forl Washington, Muryland {Gemini Property). The
Respondent was the seller’s agent.

3. The Claimant paid 510,000.00 to the Respondent as a deposit on rhe Gemin
Property, Due to severe water damagge inside the Gemini Property, however. the Claimunt never
settied on the Gemini Property, The Respandent retained the Claimant’s deposit while he looked
{or another property for her to purchase,

4. OUn December 15, 2005, the Claimant signed a residential contract for sale

{Contract) to purchase a house on Purple Lilac Lane in Clinton, Maryland (Lilac Property). The

“I'he Fund did not offer any witnesses.



purchase price was $693,000.00. Haji Z. Malik {seller or Mr. Malik) wus the seller. The
Respondent represented the scller and drafted the Contract.

5. The Contract requited the Claimant to pay a total deposit of $32.000.00 for the
Liluc Property: $18,000.00 w go to the scller and $21,000.00 10 go to Sell America. The full
deposit was to be held in escrow. Scrtlement was scheduled on January 27, 2006

6. The Cluimant paid the full deposit on the Lilac Property. which included the
$10.000.00 deposit on the Gemini Property that the Respondent had retained. The Respondent
placed $21,000.00 of the total depositin escrow and save the remainder of the deposit,
$18.000.00, 160 the scller.

7. The Claimant and scller signed a residential dwelling lease (Lease) on ar aboui
Decenber 15, 2005, The Lease allowed the Claimant to rent the Lilac Property for 53,300.00
per month. The Lease became null and void if the Claintant did not purchase the Lilac Propery
within three months. The Claimant moved into the Lilac Properly in December 2005,

8. The Claimant was unable to obuan a loan (o purchase the Lilac Property by
Junuary 27, 2006, As a result, she and the seller extended the date of setllemnent through March
27 2006, The Claimant continued to be unable to obtain a loan, and the parties never settled on
the Claimant's purchase of the Lilac Property.

9, Although the Lease had becomne null and void on March 15, 2006, the Clajmant
continued to live in the Lilag Property through around July 2008. From December 2005 th rough
at least May 2006, she paid rent directly 1o the Respondent. Beginning in lune 2006 or shortly
thereatter, the Claimant paid remnt Lo the seller.

10, In June 2007. the Respondent returned $21.000.00 of the total deposit on the Lilac
Property to the Claimant.

11 The seller allowed the Claimant to live in the Lilac Property from at least May



2007 through August 2007 without the payment of any reat,
12. The Claimant did not sustan an actual loss,

DISCUSSION

Section 17-322 of the Business Occupations and Professions Article of the Annotated
Code of Maryland provides m pertinent part as follows:
§ 17-322. Denials, reprimands, suspensions, revocations,

and penalties — Grounds,

(b} Graunds. — Subject to the hearing provisions of § 17-324 of this subtitle,
the Commission may . . . reprimand any licensee, or suspend or revoke a heense
if the . licenses:

{25} cngages 1n conduct that demonstrates had fath, incompetence, or
untrustworthiness or that constitutes dishonest, fraudulent, or improper
dealings:

(33} violates any regulation adopted under this title or any provision of
the code of ethics]. |

COMAR (19.11.02.0111 provides:

For the protection of all parties with whom the licensee deals. the licensee

shall see 1o it that financial obligations and commitments regarding real

estate transactions are in writing, expressing the exact agrecment of the

parties, and that copies of these agreements are placed in the hands of all

parties involved within a reasanable tme after the agreements are executed.

The charuces against the Respondent are based on the real estale transuctions rehated wo the
Gemini Properly and the Liluc Property. Inregard to the Gemini Property, the charpes allege
that the Respondent was the listing and selling agent, and, 1n late spring or carly summer 2003,
the Claimant suhmitted o contract o purchase the property, with a deposit of $10,000.00. The
charges further allege that because the Gemini Property flooded, “the Transuction never went
settlement,” and “rather than returning the escrow maney to the Claimant as she requested(,] the

Respondent held the money in anticipation of the Claimant finding another property to

purchase.”



In regard to the 1.ilaw Properly, the charges allege that the Respondent wus the seller’s
agent, and, in December 2003, the Claimant signed the Contract and Leuse. The Contract
required the Claimant to pay u deposit of $39,000.00: $21.000.00 1o the Respondent to be held
escrow and $18.000.00 to be given to the seller. The charges further allege that the Cuontract did
e express the exact agreement of the parties in regard to the $18,000.00. The Lease provided
for a monthly rent of 53,500.00, beginning 1n December 2005 and continuing month te month,
pending settlement ol the Claimant’s purchase of the Lilac Property. Uhe charges further aliege
that the Lease became “null and void” if the Claimant did nor purchasc the property within three
months. The charges finally allege that the Claimant never purchased the property, but she
continued to rent the property until May 2008, when it went into foreclosure, although the
Respondent fuiled to prepare o second lease agreement.

Summaury of the Evidence

According to the Claimant, in 2005, when she owned a cur auction business, she began
house-bunting by driving through neighborhoods, At the time, she was an incxperienced home-
buyer. When she saw the Respondent’s name and phone number on i “Tor sale™ sign posted al
the Gemind Property, she met with him.

The Respondent “told [her] what [she] needed 10 do.” and she signed a contract Lo
purchase the Gemind l’mpcrt}-"’ and gave the Respondent a deposit of $10,000.00. According to
the Claimant, he told her “he would see what he could do 1o help me 1o iind a company that
would help me . . . finance that home.”

Shortly thereafter, the Claimant took a relative to see the Gemini Property. They did not
have a key, so (hey looked at the interjor through a window and suw that it had sustained severe

wiler damage. As 1 result, the Claimant never setled on the purchase of the Gemini Property.

 The conlruct wis not flered as evidenve.



According o the Claimant, she requested her deposit from the Respondent, but he told her to
“wait” for him to find another property for her to purchase. The Respondent did not return the
deposil.

Aboul seven months later. on December 15, 2005, the Claimant signed the Coniract on
the T.iluc Property. The purchuse price was $695,000.00. Lnder the lerms of the Contract, the
Cluimant's deposit was $39.000.00, distributed as follows: “418,000.00 to Seller and $21,000.00
to Sell America Reality, Ine.” MREC Exh. #3, Attachment 3. Scttlement was initally scheduled
on January 27, 2006, and luter extended to March 27, 20006,

In addition to the Contract, the Claimant signed an “Understanding Whom Real Lstute
Agents Represent” (Understanding). The Understanding listed the Respondent a3 the seller’s
ug,r:nt,5 Despite this, the Claimant thought the Respondent was her agent. because “he said he
represented me” and “he said he [was| my realtor in this transacton,”

‘I'he record also includes @ Lease. signed by the Cluimant as the “tenant” and by the seller
a5 the “owner.™® Under the terms of the Lease, the rent on the Lilac Property wus $3,500.00 per
month, beginning on December 15, 2003, and “month to month” thercatter. The Lease also
provides: “Tenant to buy this house within three mumths of this lease period. 1t net hought
within three month[s], this lease should be declared null & void.,” MREC Exh. #3, Atlachment
3. According to the Claimani, she moved into the Lalac Property on December 3, 2003, with the
Respondent’s permission.

Although the Claimant never settled on the Liluc Property, she thought she owned the
property as of December 15, 2005, when she signed the Contracl, When asked the basis of her

helict, she wstified, “hecause of [the Respondent’s] cxpertise and professionalism [he] made me

T he Understandmg alsa eaplains the differences arnony gaents wa represent sellers, apents whi repeesent buyers.
ol dual apents.
 The Clacrmant testified that she did oot recall sizning the [ease. but she veritied her signatore.



trust him. [Wihen 1 first signed the contract, [the Respondent) told mu, “This is your house,
Alice Murphy.™ Despite this, the Claimant acknowledged that she hud to get a louan to buy the
Lilac Property. When asked what she thought would happen if she were unable to obtain the
loan, the Claimant testified that she never thought sbout that because “[the Respondent] assured
me that Sell Ametica would get the funding for that property and L asked him why and he said
because | putting [sic] substantial amount down and that will go to find 4 company to finance. 1If
his company would not do it. he'd find another company.”

According to the Clwmant, from December 2006 through May 2006, she paid $3,500.00
cach month to the Respondent for what she thought were monigage |‘.-111-,-'mr:nts.7 The Claimant
testified that she paid by checks, made payable to Sun Realty.® The Cluimant testified that the
seller uppeared at the Lilac Property in May 2006. According to the Claimant, he told her that he
did not know why the Respundent had let her sign the Contract because he owned the Lilac
Property. and be suggested she talk to a lawyer.” After that, the Claimant began paying the rent
directly to the seller until July 2008, when a bunk foreclosed on the Lilac Propersty,

The Claimant vetained Millstein & Shin. By letter dated April 9, 2007, Mr. Millstein
demanded that the Respondent retum the Claimant’s full deposit of $39,000.00. The Respondent
relumed $21,000.00; the amount he had placed in cscrow under the Contract. According to the

Claymant, she did not know what happened tu the ather 1800000,

 Befare she moved inlo the Lilae Property. the Claimant had renled un apartment for §1076.00 per month. She
testified that she would nor have agreed wopay so much for the Lilac Properry il she knew the payments were renlal.
not MArEEaTeE, Dy minls.

¥ The checks were not offered as evidence.

* The record contuns inconsisient evidence in regard to when this occurred. [0 a lanuacy 2008 letter o an allorney
and un April 2008 letter W the Commission, the Claimant said the dute was April 2006. In the cumplaint. she said
the dute wis May 2006, and inoa July 2008 letter. she said it was “on or about May 2006.7

™ 10 a lewter that Mr. Millstein wrote ta the Claimant on May 14, 2007, he wrole that the Respondent had said tha
the selicr had the ! 8 KKL00, and the Claiman decided nol wr pursue the maner further because the seller had
agreed 0 give her $18.000.00 worth of credit toward the rent un the Lilac Propernty. MELC Exh_#l, Attachment 7.



The recard contains Mr, Oliver’s report of his investigation of the complain. He
interviewed the Claimant on December 8, 2008 In regard to the Genmuru Property, Mr, Oliver
reporied that the Claimant “usked the fR]espondent 1o return the deposi hut he told her that he
wus an investor and had a number of homes in the ares. He said he would keep the deposit until
she found another house, which she did 6 or 7 months later.” MREC Exh. #5, pages 2-3.

In regard to the Lilac Property, Mr. Oliver reported that the Claimant thought she could
afford to purchase the property. because, at the time, she owned United Auto Auction, and
carned over $30.000.00 annually. She paid an imtal deposit of $39.000.00. She also told Mr.
Oliver that the Respondent later requested an “additional $30,000.00 in order to go to
setilement,” but she gave him only $7,000.00 because that was all she could afford.

Mr. Oliver asked the Claimant why she signed a lease on the same date she had signed
the Contract. The Claimant said that she had sipned the Tease 0 months later with the owner,
not the [Respondent.” Mr, Oliver showed her the Leasce and reminded her that her complaint
mentioned thit the Respondent had 10ld her in December 2003 that she could sign a lease. Mr.
Oliver reported: “%he suid if she signed the lease in December she did not know it was u lease,
She could not explain why her complaint referenced 4 lease that she did not know she 1 omed,™!

MREC Exh. #5, page 3.

U T he Claimant does not mentian a lease in her complaine. Three moaths latzr, however, in a lewsr o the
Canmission, she wrote:
Br. Aiziz contacted me und lald me 1'd necd another 330,800 IH) in way of deposits
ta transfor vwnership of the property, [ then informed Mr, Aizaz that 1 didn't have any
additiona! Tunds. Su Mr, Aizaz requested an additional $7000.00 that would equaul
the amaunt af 2 {two) manths mortgage payments in order 1o settde, However, yet apain
Mr. Arzaz informed me that the 57000200 that I had given him sill wosn't enough te
settle om Lhe praperty. He then wld me that 1eould sign a lease frnm December 2005
through Aol uf 2006, The lewse was for $3300.00 2 month of which | puid on tme
and with reccipts w Me, Aizaz and Scll America realioes. | was told that Teould rent
@ this arnount until 1 came-up with the additonal deposits required.
MREEC Lsh. #3, page 4 (Emphasis in the original},
At the hearing, she referred e the Lease as a sneak attack.”
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According 1o the report. the Claimant suid that she met the seller when he came to Lhe
Lilac Property “over 1 ycat afler she signed the contract.” The seller reportedly told the
Claimant that he had purchased the Lilac Property in December 2005 and that the Respondent
did not have authority 1o sell it. The Claimant told Mr. Oliver that was when she first learmed
that Mr. Malik owned the Lilac Praperty. According to hus report, Mr. Oliver then showed her
the Contract that lists Mr. Malik as the seller. The Claimant told Mr. Oliver that Mr. Malik’s
name was not on the Contract when she signed i

According fo Mr, Oliver's report, the Cluimant said that she did not pay rent for the Lilac
Property irom May 2007 through August 2007, She resumed payments in September 2007,
According 1o the report. the Claimant also told Mr. Ohiver that she signed a sccond lease with
Mr. Malik “in “abour’ March 2007 and 4 second contract —- or possibly another lease — in April
3007, Mr. Oliver reported that the Chaimant had no documentation to verfy a sccand contract or
lease.

Mr. Oliver reported that the Claimant said she thought - at least unti]l December 20006 --
that she had purchased the Lilue Property from Sell Americi and that the monthly payments
were morigage payments. She thought the Contract required the Respondent to get a loan
approved for her. and if fie were unable Lo get the loun, Sun Amenca would finance the purchase
for her, The Report states: “She suid that everything was concealed from her. She said that
[the| 1R Jespondent told her to sign documents and did not expln them w her,"” She did not

think she signed a lease and contract at the sume time but could nol he sure. She said he [the

1 e Claimant wesufied that the Respundent gave her a capy of the Contract with Mr. Malik's siznalure on it on
December 15, 2005,

I The Claimant inilialed each puge of the Contract. She wlso tessified that the Respondent “weni over'” the Camrisct
with her, wlthoush when she asked questions, be wid her "ol o worry aboul !

1)



Respondent] was very aggressive and she did not understand the process, as she had never
purchased o home before.” MREC Exh. #5. page 4.

On December 10, 2008, Mr. Oliver inlervicwed the Respondent. He admitted that e
kept the Cluimant’s $10.000.00 deposit on the Germim Praperty and that she gave him anather
$29.000.00 as a deposit on the Lilac Property, for a total deposit on the Lilac Property of
$39.000.00. The Respondent told Mr. Oliver that be put $21.000.00 from the depositin an
cscrow account and gave the remaining $18.000.00 to the seller. The report states:

At (he time the [Claimant] entered into the contract the |S]eller []

was buying the property, as an investment, but had not yet gone to

sertlement. He needed the $18,000 from [the Claimant] in order to go

w closing and the 1R Jespondent said he gave the moncey directly ta the

settlement company. | The] Respondent said that [the] [Sleller hud to

close belore [the Claimant] could go to settlement. [asked |the|

[Rjespendent if he had any ownership interest in either of the properties

and he said he did not. 1 asked what his relationship was to the [S]eller

and he said that they were involved only in this transaction. e said that

he did not have any business or other relationship with bm,

MREC Exh, #3. page 5.

According to the Report. the Respondent denied knowledge about the additional
$30.000.00 that the Claimant said the Respondent had requested from her in Junuary 2006, He
thought that the Claimant was unable to obtain a loan because she had poor credit. The
Respondent gave no thought to whether she would qualify for a loan based on her annual income
because “to be honest, at thal ime no one cared about income™ because “if o person could
breathe, he or she could pet a real estate loan.” MREC Exh. #5, page 6.

According to the Report, the purpose of the Lease was to allow the Claimant w live in the
Lilac Property until financing could be obtained. The Respondent collected the rent from the
Claimant, but when she “failed 1o get a loun, after 5 or 6 months, [the Respondent] had no further
dealings in the tansaction.” MREC Exh. #5, page 6 of the staiement. The Respondent said that

the Claimnant then began to pay the rent directly to Mr. Malik.
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On December 15, 2008, Mr. Oliver interviewed David Silberger. Mr. Malik's attomey.
Mr. Silberger reported that Mr. Malik purchased the Lilac Property as an investment. He said
Mr. Malik allowed the Claimant to live there rent-Irec in licu of relurning her $18,000.00.
According to Mr. Silberger. Mr. Malik “made up (be dilference” berween his mortgage on the
Lilac Property and the rent he received from the Claimant until he could no longer afford the
mortgage payments.

The Respondent testified that, after the water damage was diseovered at the Gemim
Property, “T asked [the Claimant], “What do you want e do? You can have your money back or
you wint 10 get another house,” She suid, ‘Please, | need a house badly.™

In regard to the Lilac Property, the Respondent testificd that he told the Claimant that Mr.,
Malik needed $18,000.00 to buy the property in arder to sell it to her. He wanted to “sell nght
away and make S30,000.00 10 540 000,00 or whatever.”" The Respondent also testified that he
told the Claimant that she could move into the Lilac Property il she signed a lease for 33.500.00
per month.

According w the Respondent, alter one month, he knew the Claimant would not he able
Loy ohtain a loan to purchase the Lilac Property. Dunng that month, three applications tor a loan
had been denied. The Respondent testified that he talked o the Claimant about what she
intended to do, and, according to the Respondent, the Clainant said that she anticipated “a lot of
money'” from a settlement of a lawsuit. As a result, the settlement date on the purchase of the

Lilac Property was extended o March 27, 2006.

" The precise timing uf the seller’s purchase of the Lilac Propurty is unclear. The Respondent testified the
settlenent was eonsummated oo December 13, 2005, when he pave the settlement company $18 00000 on Mr.
Malik's behalf, A settlement sheet on the sale of the Lilae Property from Timberlake Clinton LT 1o M Malik hsts
the settiement date as Devember 14, 2005; uwever, it is not signed. A print-out from the Maryland Drepartment of
Assessment and Tasation shows o transfer from Temberlake Clinon LLC o Mr. Malik on December 20, 2005,

12



In regard to the $18,000.00, the Respondent imitially testified that he gave it to the scller
on December 14, 2005, for his settiement on the property. 1le later reculled thus differently and
testified that the seller’s settlement was on December 15, 2003, and that he gave the S18.000.00
dircethy to the scttlement company.

The Respondent admitted that he knew at the ime that he drafted the Contract that Mr.
Malik planned to use $18,000.00 from the Claimant’s deposit o settle on his purchase of the
Lilac Property. He conceded that the Contract inaccurately states Lthat the seller will place the
$18,000.00 in an escrow account.,

According to the Respondent, for threc months, “and mayhe one or more times,” he
collected the rent from the Claimant. He stopped after that. He acknowledged that he had not
prepared any other wrting to extend the leasc for a term longer than three months “because we
did tulk to them bath [inaudible]. Since it is month to month, that 15 1inished [the three-manth
term]. TU's up (o you 1o continue this. This will stay as long s you want i.”

T'he Respondent testified that he did not financially benefit from either real estate
transaction, except for a fee (33,500.00) related to the Lease, From the Claimant’s todal deposil
($39.000.00). he returned 32 1,000.00 to the Claimant. and the remainder aof the depasir --
$15,000.00 -- had becen given w the seller.

Analvsis

Disciplinary Violation

Section 17-322(b3(23) of the Business Oceupations and Professions Anticle of the
Annotated Code of Marvland suthorizes the Comrmssion to reprinand, suspend, or revoke a teal
estate agent’s license if the agent “engages in conduct thai demonstrates bad faith, incompetency.

oF unirusiworthiness or that constitutes dishonest. fraudulent, or improper dealings.”



Section 17-322(hK 33} of the Business Occupations and Professions Article of the
Annotated Code of Maryland uuthorizes the Commission to repnimand. suspend, or revoke a real
estate agent’s license if the agent Yviolates any regulation adopeed unduer this titlel,]“lj

COMAR 09.11.02 wus adopted under sections 17-207 and 17- 208 of the Busimess
Occupations and Professions Article of the Annotated Code of Marylund, COMAR

{(}2.11.02.01H provides:

01 Relations to the Pablic

H. For the protection of all parties with whom the heensee deals, the licensee

shall see 1ot that finaneial obligations and commitments regarding real estate

transactions are in wrlng, expressing the exact agreement of the partics, and that

copies of these agreements are placed in the hands of all parties involved within 4

reasonable time after the agreements are executed.
COMAR 09.11.02.01H

The Commission argued that the Contract was not an “exact agreement ¢f the parties
regarding how the $18.000.00 would be used.” The Commission also argued that the
Respondent should have dratted a substitute writing to memorialize the parties” ongimng rental
agreement after the Lease had become noll and vond. According to the Commission, the
Respondent’s failure 10 have done those things violated COMAR 09.11.02.0§H. l'or the
following reasons, Tagree with the Commission.

{n Idecember 13, 2003, the Claimant signed the Contract o purchase the Lilasc Propery.
She paid a deposit of $29,000.00 to the Respondent. The Respondent put SZLOGLO0G in an
escrow account and gave S1R000.00 ($8,000.00 plus the S10,000.00 deposit from the Gemini

Property) to the seller or to the settlement company on Mr. Malik's behalf,

2o itle™ an Title 17 of the Business Qceuputions and Professions Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland.
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Paragraphs 16, 18, wnd 22 of the Contract address deposits. The relevant part of
puragraph 18 (“Payment Terms™) states as follows:'”
Payment Terms: The payment of the purchased pnice shull be made by

Buyer as follows: {1) An initial Deposit(s) by way of Ck in the amount
of Thirty Nine Thousand*® Dollars {339,000} at the time of this offer,

(b An additional Deposit{s) by way of _in the amount
ol Daollars (% ) to be puid within N
[ ¥ days from the Date of Contract Acceptance, (¢} The purchase

price less any and all Deposit(s) shall be paid in full by Buyer in cash,

wired funds, bank check, certified check or other payment acceptable o

the settiement officer at scttlement. (d} All Deposit(s) will be held in

escrow by: $§18,000 to Seller and $21.000 —to Sell America Realty, Inc.

Purasraph 16 addresses what huppens to the deposits if cither party defaults on the
Contract. Tt provides Lthat the seller may, under certain circumstances, retan the deposits if the
buyer “Lails to make tull setement[.]”

The relevant part of paragraph 22 states as follows: .

22, Deposil(s}: Buyer hereby authorizes and direcis Broker us specified

Paragraph 18-d of this Contract 1o hold the imitial Depasit(s) instrument

without negotiation of Deposit(s) unal the partics have exccuted and accepled

this Contract. Upon acceplance, the mitial Deposit{s) and additional Deposil(s)

(the “Deposit(s)”). if any, shall be placed in eserow a3 provided below and in

accordunce with the requirements of Section 17-502(b)(1}. Business Occupa

tions and Professions Article, Annotated Code of Maryland. Buyer and

Seller insiruct Broker o place the Dieposil(s) in: (Mark One}

?\Ak non-interest bearing account. *Transter from previeus contract
{(GGemini Ln).

Under COMAR 09.11.02.01H, a licenscd real eswate broker must ensure that the parties to
4 real estate lransaction exccute an agreement that exactly describes their financial obligations
and commitments. The Commission argued that the Respondant violated Lhis repulation becouse
the Contract inaccurately described the seller’s obligation related to the use of $18.000.00 of the

Claimant’s deposit,

" The parues used a standard form for the Contract. ‘The preprinted poctians are reprodoced above inostundind tont,
the individualized portions ure highlighted
2See note V6 rewanding fonts,

—
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Paragraph 18 of the Contract obligated the Claimant to pay a deposit of $39.000000 at the
time of her affer to purchase the property. The entire deposit was to be held in an escrow
account, $18,000.00 by the scller and $21,000.00 by Sell America. According to the
Commission, because the Respendent knew at (he time the partics cxecuted the Contract that My,
Malik planned to use the $18,000.00 as partial payment on hus purchase of the Lilac Property. the
Respondent violated COMAR 09.11.02.011 when he dralted the Conlruct to obhigate Mr. Malik
1o place the S1R.000.00 10 escrow,

At the hearing, the Respondent admitied his prior knowledge of Mr. Malik's plans for the
£18.000.00. The Respondent also iestified that he told the Claimant about the seller’s plans, The
relevanl language in the Contract, however, obligates Mr. Malik to place the $18.000.00 from the
Clmant in escrow, Accordingly. [ find that the Respondent failed *[ta] sce to 1t that the
financial chligations and commitments regarding [the Lilac Property transaction] are in writing,
expressing Lhe exact wgreement of the parties.” COMAR 09.11.02.01H. T agree, therefore, that
the Respondent violated COMAR 09 11.02.01H.

Paragraphs | and 45 address the term of the Lease. Paragraph 1 states as follows:'™
L. INITIAL LEASE TERM: Owner leases to Tenant and Tenant Jeases from Owner
the Property for the term of Month to Month yvear(s}or month{s) commencing
on the 15™ day of Dec, 05 (mo./yr.) and ending on the N/A day of
(medyr.) (the “lnatial Term™), at a wotal of Dollars ()

for swid Term , due and pavable in equal monthly installments uf Thirty Five
Hundred Dollars ($33500), in advance on the {irst daty of cach month.

Paragraph 45 states us follows:"”

45, ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS:
Tenant to buy this house within three months of this lease period. If not
bought within three month[s], this lease should be declared null & void.

¥ Sec note 16 regarding lonis.
" See note L6 regarding fonts.
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The Commission areved that the Lease was null and void afler three months under
patagraph 45. The Commission [urther argued that, if the Respondent bad drafted a now lease,
the “transaction would have gone more smoothly or at least all the parties would have had
knowledge af what the agreements were." This argument, however, docs nol Like into account
the Claimant's testimony. According to the Claimant, she thought that she had purchased the
iluc Property from the Respondent, despite the clear lunguage in the Contract und Lease that
lists hoth Mr. Malik as the seller or owner of the Lilac Property and dates of the settlement,
There is no reason 1o think that a third document would have had a different effect on the
Claimant’ s understanding of the transaction. Nonetheless, under COMAR 09.1 1.02.01, the
Respondent was required to “see 1o it that [the parties’] financial ablieations and commitments”
related 1o the Lease were exactly described in a writng,

The cvidence of the parties” agreement is the fully-exceuted Leuse. Based on the Lease.
the seller and the Claimant agreed that the Clamant would leasc the Lilac Property irom the
seller for $3.500.00 per month. They further agreed that the initial term of the Lease began on
December 15, 2005, and continucd trom month to month. The parties also agreed. however. that
the lease “should be declared null and void™ if the Claimant did not buy the Lilac Property within
threc menths. The three-month peried ended on March 186, 200G,

Assuming that. as the Commission argued. the Lease became aull and void an March 16,
2006. COMAR 09.11.02.01H applied tw the Respondent only if the Respondent continued to
have real estate dealings related to the Lilac Property with the purties atter March 15, 2006. The
Respondent's post-March 15, 2006, real estate dealings with the parties arc established by the
C'ontract and the Respondent's testimony. The Respondent revised the date of settlement in the
Contract from Junuary 27. 2006, to March 27, 2006, The Respondent testified that he collected

rent on behalf of the seller from the Claimant Tor three months, “and maybe one or more umes,”
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that is, at least through March 2006, and, likely, through April 2006, The Respondent, theretore,
remained involved in the partics’ real estate transactions alter March 2006,

When the Respondent was asked at the hearing whether he had prepared an extension of
the Lease, the Respondent testified, *[We did talk to them both [inaudible]. Since it is month (o
month that is finished. TUs up 1o you to continue this. This will stay as long as you want.” The
Respondent, therefore, seemed Lo have taken the position that the Tease provided for the parties
to continue the rental agrecment on & month-to-meonth basis Tor as long as they both agreed. 1
goree with the Commission’s argument, however, that the Lease had become null and void on
Murch 16, 2006, under paragraph 45, As a result, Talso agree with the Commission that, under
COMAR 09.11.02.01H. the Respondent was required to “see 101t that [the] financial obligations
and commitments [of the partics| regarding™ the ongoing reneal of the Lilac Property were ™m
writing, expressing the exact agreement of the parties[.]” The Respondent admitted, however,
that he failed to prepare another lease agreement or any other appropriate wriling. Because the
parties continued a leaschold agreement without a writing, T find that the Respondent violated
COMAR 09.11.02.011 by {aling “to see toit” that an appropriate replacement lease had been
executed.

¥d. Code Ann., Bus, Qce. & Prof, § 17-322(b)(33) (Supp. 2%

Linder section 17-322(b)(33) of the Buyiness Occupations and Professions Anticle of the
Annotated Code of Maryland, the Commission may discipline the Respondent for a vielation of
“any regulation adopted under this ntle or any provision of the code of ethics[.]” Because | have
found that 1the Respondent violated COMAR 09110201, [ also find that the Commission is

autharized under section 17-322(b)(33) to discipline the Respondent,
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Md. Code Ann., Bus, Oce. & Prof. § 17-322{b)(25) (Supp. 2(H9}

Sectinn 17-322(b}23}1 of the Business Occupations and Professions Article ol the
Annotited Code of Maryland gives the Commission discretionary authority to discipline the
Respondent for conduct that demonstrates bad faith, incompetency, untrustworthiness or that
constitutes dishonest, fraudulent, or improper dealings. The Commission argued that the
Respondent’s violation of COMAR 09.11.02.01H constituted incompelency because "a
competent agent would have put those things jaccurate language related 1o deposits in the
Contract and a replacement Jeasc] in writing and then the transaction would have gone more
smoothly or at least ail partics would have had knowledge of what the agrecments were.”

Incompelency means “incompetence.” Merriam-Webster's Collegtare Dictionary (3
(11" ed. 2006). Incompetence means “the state or fact of being incompetent.” /. Incompetent
means “uot legally qualilicd” or “inadeguate to or unsuituble for a particular purpase” or
“lacking the qualities needed for effective action” or “unable to function properly.” d.

1 disagree with the Commission’s argument (hat the writings would have tucilitated
simoother transactions or resulted in a bewter-informed Claimant. The record does not support
that argument. In fact, the evidence suggests the opposite. that 1s, accurate language in the
Contract and a substitute lease would have had no effect on the course of the Iransaction ar the
Claimant’s understanding of the trunsaction.

The Claimant estified thal the Respondent misled her to think thar (i) the Respondent
owned the Lilac Property: (i) the Respondent had obtained a mortgage for her: and (in) her
rental payments were mortgage payments. She held those thoughts despute the contrary clear
meaning of the plain language in the Contract and Leuse.

The Contract uhmistakably identifies Mr. Malik as the owner and scller of the Lilac

Property. clearly identifies the Respondent as the seller’s agent, and plainly informs the Claimant
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that she must obtain financing Lo purchase the Lilac Property. The Lease ulso clearly identifics
Mr. Malik as the owner of the Liluc Property, and it clearly identifies the Claimant as the renant.
There is no Teason to think that accurate language in the Contract about how the seller would
hold the $18.000.00 or 1 replacement lease would have facilitated a stnoother transaction ot
better informe:d the Claimant, Furthermore, such writings would not have necessanly affected
disbursement of the deposit, Paragraph 22 of the Contract sets forth the seller’s obligation i
regard 10 disbursement of the deposit in the event that the Contract “shall be wrmnated or
scttlement does not aceur.” They “shall be disbursed by the Broker anly in accordance with a
releasc.” and. if a party is unable or unwilling (o execute a release, the Broker “may distribute the
Deposit(s) in accordanice with the provisions of Section 17-303(b)(1}, Business Oceupations and
Professions Articles [sic], Annotated Code of Maryland.” MREC Exh. #3, Atachment 3.

Nonetheless, the Contract misrepresents the obliganion of the seller in regard to the
deposit. The Contract provides that the Seller will hold S18,000.00 of the Cluimant’s total
deposit in escrow. The Contract, however, reguired all the deposits 1o be held in escrow,

Under COMAR 09.§1.02.01. a writing that “expressles] the exact agreement of the
partics” regarding therr “financial obligations and commitments™ is “[{Jor the protoction of all
parties.” The relevant language in the Contract is “inadequate 1o or unsuitable for” that purposc
because il docs not describe the exact agreement of 1he partics related o the seller’s use of the
deposit. Accordingly, 1 find that the Respondent’s deliberate and knowing use of incorrect
languige in the Contract demonstrated incampetency.

[ decline to find @ vivlation of section 17-322(b%23) based on the Respondent’s failure 10
create 2 writing to extend the parties” lease arrangement. The two parts of the Lease related to its
(ermi -- (i) beginning in December 2005 and continuing month to month and (i1} becoming null

and void after three months -- create an ambiguity and makes the Claimant’s position that a
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second wriling wus not required to extend the term of the lease reasonable. 1 do not find that it
demonstrated bad faith, incompetency, o untrustwarthiness ar that it consttuted dishonest,
frandulent, or improper dealings.

What is an Appropriate Penalty?

Under section 17-322 of the Business Occupations and Professions Arucle, the
Commission may suspend a realt estate agent’s license and penalize him or her up to $5,000.00
for cach violation of the statute. Under section 17-322(¢)(2) of the Business Occupations and
Professions Article, the amount of a financial penalty is determined by the seriousness of the
violation, the harm caused by the vivlation, the good faith of the licensee, and the history of
previous violations by the licensee.

The Commission proposed a two-week suspension and a $2,000.00 finc. [t argued that
the factors of “seriousness” and “harm™ support the amount of the fine because the “reason” for
COMAR 009.11.02.01H is “to make sure” that all the parties understand their agreements, and the
Claimant did not “clearly know™ 10 what she had agreed. 1 agree thar the Tactor of “seriousness”
supports a suspension and fine, but T disagree that the factor of “harm™ supports the requested
penalty.

In regard to “harm,” the evidence shows no relationship between the clarity of written
documents und the Claimant’s understanding of the Lilac Property transaction. o summarize
from above  the disconnect between the clarity of documents and the Claimunt’s understanding
of the Lransaction are illustrated by the following: First, the Lease clearly wentifics the Claimant
as 4 “tenant” and the Respondent as the “owner.” but the Claimant testified that she thought she
was the owner. Second, the Contract clearly identifies Mr. Malik as seller and the Respondent as
the seller's agent, but the Claimant testified that she thought the Respondent represented her.

Third. the Understanding clearly explains the differences among types of real estate agents and



identifics the Respondent as “working as [ seller/landlord’s agent,” but the Claimant thought the
Respondent represented her in the purchase of the Lilac Property. The Claimant’s “harm™ was,
in large part, self-inflicted.™

1 agree with the Commission’s argument that the Respondent’s violation of COMAR
0911 .02.01H and section 17-322{b){33), as it relales o the Claimant’s depasits, was a serious
violation. The Respondent knowingly and deliberately used lulse language in the Contract to
describe the parties” agreement related to the $18,000.00 deposit. Such conduet was i gross
violation of his stututory, regulatory. and ethical obligations. The lact that the Respondent had
not financially benefitted from the transaction is not relevant to the seriousness of the violation.
COMAR 09,11.02.01H sets forth an ethical standard with which the Respondent must comply.
The seriousness of the violution dedves from the knowing and dehiberate nature of the violatiorn;
it is not mitigated by the Respondent’s failure to benefit financially,

The Commission also argued that the penalty is supported by the “good faith™ of the
Respondent. According te the Commission, the Respondent's inconsistent testimony reluted to
the source of the $18,000,00 that Mr. Malik used to purchase the Lilac Property illustrates the
importance of clear written agreements and suggests that the Respondent had exploited the
Claimant’s inexperience “in conducting this transaction.™"

1 disagree that the lactor of “good {aith” supports the Commission’s proposed penalty.
The stutute does not say anything about a lack of good faith. 1t says that “the Commigsion shall

consider . . . the good Taith of the licensec™ to determine the amount of the penalty. “Good fuh”

2 Phe Clarmant was well-spoken, intellipent, and literate, Although she may buve been a navice home buyer, she
testified thut she had owned a husiness that sald used curs and. therefare. should have had plenty of experience with
clracts related e sales

T The Respondent’s testimony abowr the source of the $18.000.0 changed from testitying thar he guve $18,000.00
o3l his wn meney to M. Malik so that be could seade on the Lilac Froperty on Drecember 14, 20035, tor not knowing
where the % 12,000,000 came {Tom because Mr. Walik's settlement on the Lilac Properly und the Claimant's paymem
ol the depusit aceurred “around the same time,” 1 remembering that Mr. Malik’s settlenignt was on December 13,
03, and b ave $18.000.00 from the Claimant's deposil direcily 1o the serlement company
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means “a state of mind consisting in (1) honesty in belicf and purpose. (2} fuithfulness wo one’s
duty or obligation, (3) observance of reasonable comrmnercial standards of fair dealing in a given
trade or business, or (4} absence of intent to defraud or (o seek unconscienable advantage.”
Black's Law Dictionary 780 (11" ed. 2004). Under the plain language of section 17-
122(cH2Hiii) of the Business Occupations and Professions Article, “good faith” may mitigate the
amount of a penalty, but an absence of good faith does noi support the amount of the penalty.

The Commission finally argued that the Respondent’s history of previous violations
supports the penalty, The record shows that, in case number 02-RE-222. the Respundent
conscnted to a reprimand, $1,000.00 fine, and completion of 1 three-hour elhics course. This
previous discipling was for the dishursement of money from an escrow account. This factar,
therefore, suppeorts the amount of the Commission’s proposcd penalty.

1 find that the Commission’s sanction is rcasonable. The seriousness of the Respondent’s
violations and the Respondent’s history of previous violations [ully justify the penalty. In fact,
the Respondent’s knowing and intentional use of false lunguage in the Contract (o describe what
Ve, Malik must do with the $18 000,00 warrants, by itself. a sanction at leust as much as that for
which the Commission had argued.

The Guaranty Fund Claim

Vd. Code Ann., Bus, Qce. & Prof, § 17-404 {2004) states, as follows:
% 17-404, Claims against the Guaranty Fund

(8} fn generaf. - (1) Subject to the provisions of this subtitle, a person

may recover compensation (rom the Guaranty Fund for an actual loss.
{2} A claim shall
(1) be based on an act or omission that ocours in the provision of
real cstate brokerage services by
1. a licensed real estate broker;

. a licensed associate real cstate broker;
. i licensed real estate sales person; or
_an unlicensed employee of a licensed real estate broker;
(11} involve a transaction that relates to real estate that is located

LR OV
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in the State; and
fii1) b based on an act or omission:
. in which money or property is obtained lrom a person by
theft, cmbezzlement, false pretenses, or forgery: or
2. that constilules Itaud or misrepresentation,

COMAR 09.11.03.04 states, as follows:
04 Claims A gainst the Guaranty Fund.

A. A guaranty fund claim shall be based on the allcged misconduct of a
licensee.

B. For the purpose of a guaranty fund claim. miscondoct:

(1} Ts an action arising out of a real estate transaction invalving real
estate located in this state which causes actual loss by reason of thelt or
crmbezzlement of money or property, or nongy or properly unlawfully
abtained from a person by false pretense, atifice, tnckery, or forgery, or
by reason of fraud, misrepresentation, or deceil:

{21 Is performed by an unlicensed employee of a licensed real estate
broker or by # duly licensed real estate broker, associate broker, or sales-

person, and

(3) Involves conduct for which & license 1s required by Business
Oceupations and Professions Article, Title 17, Annotated Code of Maryland.

On May 13, 2008, the Claimant claimed an actual loss of $39,000.00. This amount equals

her deposit on the Lilac Property. On July 1, 2008, and at the heaning, she amended ber cluim 1o

52500000, This amaunt is the sum of $18,000.00 {part of the toLal dcposit]zz and S7.000.00 the

Claimant alleged she had given the Respondent in Junuary 2006 to settle on the Lilac Property.

The Claimant has the burden of proof. Md, Code Ann., Bus. Occ. & Prol. § 17-407{c)

(20043; COMAR 09.01.02.16C. She must prove (i} an actual monctary loss, (i1} caused by an act

or omission of the Respondent in the provision of real estale brokerage services, {iii) during a

transaction that relates to real estate in Maryland, {1v)in which money or property is obtmned by

“Fhe Clatmant admitted thal the Respandent returned $21.000.00 of the woal deposii.
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theft, embezzlement, false prewnse, or forgery or that constitutes fraud or misrepresentation. Md,
Code Ann, Bus. Oce, & Prof. § 17-4044u)(2) (2004).

The Fund argued that the Claimant was not cntitled to reimbursement because she fuiled w
prove an actual monetary loss vaused by an act or ormission of the Respondent. According to the
Claimant. she should be reimbursed because, when she signed the Contract, the Respondent gave
her “false hope™ by telling her, “This is your house, Alice Murphy.” At differcot point in her
Lestimony, the Claimant testilied that she should be reimbursed from the Fund because of "me
being told I could purchase u home [and] allow me to give my hard eamed deposit o a house that
he knew I had no intention in the world to purchase.™™ She referred to this as “misrepresentation.”
For the following reasons, 1 ugree with the Fund.

The Claimant has not proven an actual 1oss or (hat, assuming an actual loss, it was caused
by the Respondent’s misconduct. The amount of the alleged actual loss is based, in part. on
57 .000.00 that (he Claimant said she gave to the Respondent in January 2006 to settic on the Lilae
Property. The Claimant, however, offered no evidence 1o corroborate her testimony, She testified
that she had given such documentation 10 her stitorney, but she did not offer Mr. Millstein as a
witness of & copy of the documents she claimed 1o have given him. Based on the Claimant’s
testimony alone, which at times was inconsistent, T do not find that the Claimiant paid $7,000.00 10
the Respondent in January 2006 to settle on the Liluc Property. Furhermore, the Claimunt was i
tenant in the Lilac Property beginning in December 2005, The rent was 53,500.00 per month, [ler
attorney, in an April 2007 letter to the Respondent, described the 37.000.00 as “two meomths rent
{the months of Tanuary and February 20060)[.J7 MREC Exh. #5, Attachment 6. At the heunng, the

Claiman! admitted she paid $3,500.00 cach month while she resided at the Lilac Property. The

LR} . . o . .
5 11 the cantext of the hearing, it wag clear that the Claimant misspoke, She meant w suy that the Respondent knew
from the beginning of the transaction that she woukl o be able to obton a Joan to purchuse the Lilac Property,
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%7,000.00, assuming it had been paid by the Claimant, was more likely than not rent for December
and Jlanuary.

The remainder of the alleged actual loss is the $18.000.00 deposit thut was given to the
seller pursuant to the tlerms of the Contract. The record, however, docs not support inding an
$1%.000.00 actual loss. In fuct, the following evidence supports finding, il anything, that the
Claimant received at least an $18,000.00 credit for rental payments that she otherwise was
obligated to pay while she lived at the Lilac Property as a tenant  First, the Claimant admitied she
lived rent-free itom May 2007 through August 2007 ($3,500.00 x 4 months = $14,000.00),
Second, on May 14, 2007, the Claimant’s attorney wrote: “Tadvised you thiat, according to Me,
Aizie, the remaining $18.000.00 is held by Mr. Haji Malik. bowever, you told me thut you do nat
wish t bring any legal action against Mr, Malik notwithstanding he may be unlawlully holding the
said $18,000.00. You stated that based upon your own commumications with Mr. Malik, that Mr.
Malik intended to offer you a rent credit of $18,000.00, and therefore. you wished to resolve this
matter through collection of $21,000.00 against Mr. Aizaz, as relcrenced above.” MREC Exh. 5,
Auachment 7. Third, on May 21, 2007, the Claimant “specificully releaseld| fthe Respondent]
from any and all responsibility and lability in connection with the Contract of Sale.” MREC Fxh.
5, Attachment 8. Finally, the Claimant offered no corroboration of her testimony that she resumed
Lhe payment of rent after August 2007, Based on this evidence, I do not find that the Claimant
praved that she has a claim to any of the $18.000.00.

Assuming, however, based on her testimony alone, that Mr. Malik gave her credit for only
$14,000.00 worth of rental payments, the evidence docs not support a finding thar the
Respondent’s misconduct caused the loss of any part of the $18.000.00. Misconduct includes

theft. cmbezzlement. false pretenses, artifice, trickery, forgery, fraud, misrepresentation, or deceit.



There is no cvidence from which reasonably to find thelt, embezzlement, fulse pretenses, artifice,
trickery, forgery, fraud, or decat.

“Misrepresentation™ is “[t]he act of making a false or msleading asscrtion aboul
something. usually with the intent to deceive,” Black's Law Dictionary 1022 (8" ed. 2004); see
alse Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary 794 (11" cd. 2006). “Misrepresentation” can also
mean “to serve badly or improperly as a representative.” Merriam-Webster's Collegiate
Diciionary 794 {1 1" od. 2006). The Contract and Understanding clearly identify the Respondent
as the scller's agent. Furthermore, the Contract clearly lists Mr. Malik as the seller and prowvides
that $18.000.00 of the total deposit goes to him. While it is true that the Contract incarrectly
represented that Mr. Malik was to hold the $18,000.00 in cscrow, no evidence links this false
assertion (o an intent to deceive. Furthermore, Mr. Malik. not the Respondent, controlled the
S1R,000.00. Assuming the Cluimant was entitled 10 all or part of the $18.000.00. there was no act
or omission on the part of the Respondent that cansed the sctual loss.

CONCLUSTONS OF LAW

[ conclude the tollowing:
A. The Respomdent violated Md, Code Ann., Bus, Oce. & Prof. §§ 17-322(b)(25) and {33}
(Supp. 2009}
B. The Respendent violated COMAR 09.11.02.01H.
(. The Claimant did not suffer an actual loss due to the Respondent’s misconduct.

RECOMMENDED ORDER

[ RECOMMEND that the Maryland Real Estate Commission:
A. Suspend the Respondent for two weeks;

B. Penalize the Respondent 52,000.00; and



C. Have the records and publicutions of the Maryband Real Esure Commission refleet this

dlecisuon,

Marek 12, M0}
Dlate Decizion Mailed

M nah
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Michael D Carlis
Administrative Law Judge
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The lollowing were admitted for the Commission:

WIREC Exh. #]: Notices of Hearing and Statement of Charges.
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MREC Exh, #3: The Respondent’s licensing and disciplinary history,

MREC Exh. #4: Memorandum, dated December 2, 2008 and

MREC Lxh. #3: Report af Investigation, with Atachments.





